Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Kavita N. Patel

Date

Predicting Deep Venous Thrombosis and Evaluating Factors Associated with Length of Stay in Children Hospitalized with *Staphylococcus Aureus* Osteomyelitis

By

Kavita N. Patel, MD Master of Science in Clinical Research

> Christine Kempton, MD MSc Advisor

> > Mitch Klein, PhD Committee Member

Muna Qayed, MD MSc Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Predicting Deep Venous Thrombosis and Evaluating Factors Associated with Length of Stay in Children Hospitalized with *Staphylococcus Aureus* Osteomyelitis

By

Kavita N. Patel B.A., Boston University, 1999 M.D., Texas Tech University School of Medicine, 2003

> Advisor: Christine Kempton, MD MSc

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Clinical Research

2016

Abstract

Predicting Deep Venous Thrombosis and Evaluating Factors Associated with Length of Stay in Children Hospitalized with *Staphylococcus Aureus* Osteomyelitis

> By Kavita N. Patel

Background: Deep venous thrombosis (DVT) has been reported to be a frequent complication occurring in children admitted to the hospital with *Staphylococcus aureus* osteomyelitis (OM). Increased length of hospital stay has been reported in children who have both *S. aureus* OM and DVT. In review of the literature, there is no published model to help predict which children are at increased risk of developing DVT and if DVT is associated with increased length of stay in children hospitalized with *S. aureus* OM.

Methods: A retrospective cohort study consisting of children aged 0-18 years with *S. aureus* OM were identified at Texas Children's Hospital and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta from 2005-2010. Statistical methods included use of Student's t-test, Wilcoxon rank sum test, Chi Square, simple and multivariable logistic, linear, and Cox regression analyses using SAS v9.4 (SAS Institute INC., Cary, NC).

Results: S. aureus OM was identified in 382 children; 47 (12.3%) had deep venous thrombosis (DVT). Overall in-hospital survival was 99.6%. A predictive model was developed containing the following factors: presence of bacteremia, C - reactive protein (CRP) level >24mg/dl and platelet count <200 platelets/microliter and male gender predicted DVT with moderate sensitivity and specificity (area under curve (AUC) of 0.85, sensitivity 86% and 71%). Median length of stay was 20 days vs. 8 days (p=<0.0001) in those with and without DVT, respectively. DVT was associated with 65% increase in length of stay compared to those without DVT using linear regression analysis and a hazard ratio of 0.47 (95% confidence interval 0.34-0.67) with regards to time to hospital discharge in those with DVT compared to those without DVT. Additional factors associated with length of hospital stay were pediatric intensive care admission, methicillin resistant *S. aureus* infection, the presence of bacteremia, multiple sites of osteomyelitis infection, and location of cohort.

Conclusions: Bacteremia, CRP >24mg/dl, platelet count <200 platelets/microliter, and male gender predicted DVT and the presence of DVT was associated with a longer hospital in children hospitalized with *S. aureus* OM.

Predicting Deep Venous Thrombosis and Evaluating Factors Associated with Length of Stay in Children Hospitalized with *Staphylococcus Aureus* Osteomyelitis

By

Kavita N. Patel B.A., Boston University, 1999 M.D., Texas Tech University School of Medicine, 2003

> Advisor: Christine Kempton, MD MSc(C)

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Clinical Research

2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND	3
METHODS	6
RESULTS	11
DISCUSSION/CONCLUSIONS	17
REFERENCES	23
TABLES/FIGURES	29

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1	Demographic, clinical characteristics, and outcomes of children with <i>S. Aureus</i> osteomyelitis admitted to TCH and CHOA from 2005-201032
Table 2	Measures of association between demographic, osteomyelitis related, and laboratory factors and presence of DVT33
Table 3	Model development: evaluation of predictors34
Table 4	Sensitivity analysis: evaluation of significant predictors by cohort location
Table 5	Sensitivity and specificity of the final predictive model for the training and validation data sets
Table 6	Crude analysis of factors related to length of stay
Table 7	Simple linear regression evaluating association between ln length of stay and DVT and other relevant variables40
Table 8	Multivariable linear regression evaluating association between ln length of stay and DVT and other relevant variables41
Table 9	Cox regression analysis with factor specific hazard ratios adjusted for all of the other factors listed and time to discharge home (i.e. hospital length of stay)
Figure 1	Calibration plot used in assessing the final predictive model for study question 135
Figure 2	Receiver Operating Curves for the predication model for the training data set (Panel A, AUC 0.85), validation data set (Panel B, AUC 0.8) and a comparison graph of the training and validation data sets ROC curves (Panel C)

INTRODUCTION

Children who develop thrombosis have increased morbidity and mortality compared to healthy children (1, 2). A subset of children who are suspected to be at increased risk of development of thrombosis is children with community acquired Staphylococcus aureus osteomyelitis. Numerous observational studies have shown that these children have increased frequency of deep venous thrombosis (DVT) and these DVTs are not always present nor found upon presentation to the hospital (3-7). The reported percentages of children with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis who develop DVT while hospitalized have been reported to be between 5-30% and can occur between hospital days 0 to prior to discharge (6-9). Length of stay has been reported to be increased in children who develop DVT (4, 6, 8). A notable limitation of these observational (regardless if prospective or retrospective) studies is that no child was routinely screened for DVT and that only one study thus far has evaluated any measure of associations for factors associated with length of hospital stay. Symptoms of DVTs such as pain and swelling mimic the symptoms seen in osteomyelitis and as result DVT may not be suspected when a child presents to the hospital or even during the course of hospitalization. This overlap of symptoms makes it difficult for physicians and other healthcare providers caring for these patients to correctly identify who is at risk for DVT and if or when they should be screened for DVT. As a result there is a gap in knowledge regarding the true burden of thrombosis in children with osteomyelitis and defining the subset of children who are at high risk of DVT and may benefit from DVT screening. Also, it is not known to

what degree the occurrence of DVT is associated with hospital length of stay and what other factors may influence length of stay in this patient population.

The focus of this work will be to develop a model that predicts the subset of children with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis are at risk of DVT at time of admission to the hospital and to evaluate the association between DVT and hospital length of stay.

BACKGROUND

<u>Infections with *Staphylococcus Aureus* are rising as are the rates of venous</u> <u>thrombosis in pediatrics</u>

Children who develop thrombosis, particularly deep venous thrombosis, have increased morbidity and mortality compared to children without DVT based on nationally reported rates of death in children (from all causes) (1, 2, 10, 11). In addition to pre-existing conditions such as prior episode of thrombosis, cancer, and genetic predisposition, the presence of an infection increases the risk for developing thrombosis (12-14). Infections in the bone, known as osteomyelitis, have been shown to be associated with DVT(15). In the last decade infections with *Staphylococcus aureus* have been increasingly recognized and reported as a predisposition for the development of thrombosis in previously healthy children though case reports and case series have reported this phenomenon since 1971(7, 15-21). In the last decade, the incidence of community acquired *S. aureus* infections in children have risen (22). As a result of the rising incidence of community acquired *S. aureus* infections, the risk of DVT may also be on the rise.

In 2006, the largest case series up to that time was published by Gonzalez et al. from Texas Children's Hospital showing a relationship between the presence of venous thrombosis and *S. aureus* osteomyelitis compared to other types of osteomyelitis. At the time of their report, only 15 cases had been published. In the interim, DVT associated with osteomyelitis due to *S. aureus* infections have been increasingly recognized as a predisposition for the development of thrombosis in previously healthy children (3-9, 16, 17, 19, 23-25). Children with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis and

DVTs are being seen throughout the US at all major children's hospitals (personal communication). The limitations of these observational studies include that no children were routinely screened for DVT, small sample sizes, and that most studies were retrospective.

Diagnostic Challenges

Osteomyelitis can be diagnosed with imaging including bone scintigraphy, x-ray, or MRI as well as using bone biopsy or with a combination of those modalities (26-28). Of the imaging modalities, MRI can often detect DVTs in children but the sensitivity and specificity without dedicated MRV is lacking (29). Additionally, DVT can be present at diagnosis or found up to weeks later (7, 8). The prevalence of DVT in S. aureus osteomyelitis is estimated to be between 5-30%, with an average of 9-10% across all studies (6). DVTs in children with osteomyelitis are not routinely screened for and thus are often found incidentally when imaging is performed for diagnosis of osteomyelitis or if patient develps symptoms of DVT during hospitalization that prompt the healthcare provider to screen for DVT. The median time to diagnosis of DVT from admission to hospitalization has been reported to be between 2-6 days (7, 8). One possible reason for the variability in the time to diagnosis of DVT is that symptoms of DVT such as pain and swelling mimic those symptoms seen in patients with osteomyelitis. A second reason for the variability in time to diagnosis is that not all DVTs have occurred when these children present to the hopsital. As a result of variable time to diagnosis leading to a potenital delay in the time to start anticoagulation treatment, part of the infection may become localized within the thrombus, potentially prolonging bacteremia, lengthening hospitalization, and

increasing risk of developing sepsis or respiratory failure due to septic pulmonary emboli.

<u>Screening studies and prediction models have increased the diagnosis of venous thrombosis</u>

In adults, it is well established that prediction models (not specific to any one population except for adults in general), such as the Well's criteria for pulmonary embolism risk and use of d-dimer for DVT risk and recurrence, have been paradigm shifting (30-32). There a very few studies of predicting DVT in pediatrics (33-36). Studies trying to extrapolate these adult findings into the pediatric population have not proven successful (37). Novel prediction models are needed because when studies are performed to screen for DVT in children, thrombosis is several fold more prevalent than would be found by symptomatology alone(38, 39). Thus far in the review of the literature, no prediction model for DVT risk in children with *S. aureus* OM has been developed.

<u>Establishing a clinically relevant DVT risk prediction model has potential to improve</u> <u>diagnosis of disease, morbidity and potentially mortality</u>

Children with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis with DVT have been reported to have worse outcomes including prolonged length of hospital stay, need for ICU admissions, increased utilization of hospital resources, and mortality (5-9, 24, 25). Clinical prediction models may help physicians and other healthcare providers determine the risk of DVT and therefore assist in clinical decision making, particularly with regards to surveillance for DVT or perhaps in employing DVT prophylaxis strategies.

METHODS

Research Objectives

The first research objective was to develop a DVT risk prediction model for children hospitalized with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis based upon factors identified at time of hospital admission or early in admission (<24-48 hours). The second research objective was to test the hypothesis that the occurrence of DVT during admission for osteomyelitis due to *S. aureus* was increases the length of hospital stay.

Study Design

For research objective one, a model was developed to predict DVT utilizing routinely collected demographic, clinical and laboratory factors in a retrospective cohort of children aged 0-18 years who were admitted to the hospital with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis. For the second research objective, the same cohort of children was used to estimate the association between DVT and hospital length of stay. The study population was derived from a cohort of children from Texas Children's Hospital in Houston, Texas and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta in Atlanta, Georgia.

Cohort Criteria

Children eligible for inclusion in this retrospective cohort analysis were between 0-18 years of age admitted to Texas Children's Hospital in Houston, Texas and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta in Atlanta, Georgia between January 1, 2005, and December 31, 2010 (n=226). The subjects in the Texas cohort were identified using a database maintained by the Infectious Disease service at Texas Children's Hospital as part of an ongoing bio-repository and clinical database of community acquired S. aureus infections and was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Baylor College of Medicine. The definitions of "community acquired" have been outlined previously (40). The patients in the Georgia cohort were identified by using any ICD-9 codes that included osteomyelitis as well as electronic medical record database searching for the term osteomyelitis. The ICD-9 codes utilized included: 730.00, 730.01, 730.02, 730.03, 730.04, 730.05, 730.06, 730.07, 730.08, 730.09, 730.10, 730.11, 730.12, 730.13, 730.14, 730.15, 730.16, 730.17, 730.18, 730.19, 730.20, 730.21, 730.22, 730.23, 730.24, 730.25, 730.26, 730.27, 730.28, 730.29, 730.30, 730.31, 730.32, 730.33, 730.34, 730.35, 730.36, 730.37, 730.38, 730.39, 730.70, 730.71, 730.72, 730.73, 730.74, 730.75, 730.76, 730.77, 730.78, 730.79, 730.80, 730.81, 730.82, 730.83, 730.84, 730.85, 730.86, 730.87, 730.88, 730.89, 730.90, 730.91, 730.92, 730.93, 730.94, 730.95, 730.96, 730.97, 730.98, 730.99. Time zero for the cohort was defined as date of admission. Osteomyelitis diagnosis was confirmed by MRI, bone scan, or bone culture proven infection. S. aureus infection was confirmed by blood culture or bone culture.

Exclusion criteria included diagnosis of DVT prior to admission, chronic osteomyelitis, and osteomyelitis of hand, foot, or cranium since these locations have not previously been shown to be associated with DVT in children with osteomyelitis due to *S. aureus*.

Data Collection and Measurements

After obtaining approval from the respective IRBs of each institution, medical charts were then reviewed for demographic, clinical, and laboratory information. Data collection was performed by a trained individual and the primary investigator (KP). Outcomes of presence of DVT and hospital length of stay were also collected. Demographic data included age at diagnosis of OM, gender, date of birth, date of death (if applicable). Clinical data recorded included date of admission, date of discharge, date of diagnosis of OM, location of OM, diagnostic method of determining if OM present, date of first and last positive blood culture, susceptibility to methicillin, admission to ICU, presence of septic pulmonary emboli, date of diagnosis of DVT, location of DVT, presence of DVT on OM diagnostic imaging, whether any anticoagulants used to treat DVT, date of anticoagulation initiation, date of anticoagulation discontinuation, resolution of DVT (complete, partial, or no change). Laboratory data collected included white blood cell count, hemoglobin, platelet count, C-reactive protein which we performed no later than 48 hours from admission. Additional labs collected were prothrombin time (PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), fibrinogen, d-dimer, factor 8 activity at time of admission or initiation of anticoagulation(+/-48 hours). For this study, the bones with osteomyelitis were categorized as belonging to one of the following categories: proximal upper extremity (humerus), distal upper extremity (radius, ulna), proximal lower extremity (femur), distal lower extremity (tibia, fibula), pelvic (iliac, ischium, pubis, sacrum), and other (clavicle, scapula, patella, vertebrae). Relevant radiographs were also reviewed. Additionally for analytic purposes, OM sites were

categorized as follows: proximal included the proximal upper extremity, proximal lower extremity and pelvic sites; all other sites were considered distal sites (due to lack of proximity to deep veins). Missing data was only seen for the laboratory variable, C-reactive protein, missing n=26, 6.8%.

Statistical Plan

Descriptive analyses involved calculation of proportions (frequencies) for categorical data, mean and standard deviation for normally distributed continuous data, median for non-normally distributed data and odds ratios as measure of association of risk. Student's t-test and Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test were used to compare continuous normally and non-normally distributed variables, respectively in children with and without DVT.

For the predictive model building for the first objective, logistic regression was utilized. Crude analyses were initially performed between a given potential predictors and the outcome variable (DVT). To simplify interpretation by clinicians in future studies, the significant continuous variables (hemoglobin, platelet count, C - reactive protein) found in the crude analyses were then dichotomized by utilizing interquartile values. When the direction of the relationship was in the negative, the lower 25th percentile was utilized (e.g. platelet count and hemoglobin) and when positive relationship, then the upper 25th percentile (i.e. 75th) was utilized (e.g. CRP). The entire cohort was randomly partitioned using SAS into a training and validation data sets (70% and 30% split, respectively) such that they were mutually exclusive data sets. A predictive model was developed using logistic regression on the training

data set. Potential variables included for consideration for the model were chosen based on prior literature search and if they were factors that could be ascertained at time of admission or within 24-48 of admission. Additionally, factors (potential predictors) from the univariate analyses were included if the respective p value was <0.1. Product terms were created amongst the predictors that were significant in initial main effects model based on the crude analyses. The main effects model was then developed using automated selection methods (forward, backward, and stepwise were all evaluated to determine if the model was the same regardless of selection method). The final predictive model included variables with significance at p<0.05. The final main effects predictive model was then evaluated for goodness of fit using the Hosmer-Lemeshow test, calibration plots, and for predictability using the Receiver Operating Curve (ROC) to determine the area under the curve (AUC). The model performance was evaluated using the validation data set and reassessed for predictability using the Receiver Operating Curve to determine the AUC. From the training data set a classification rule using a cut point based on the predicted probability that yielded the best sensitivity and specificity was developed. Then using the cut point from the training data set, the sensitivity and specificity of the model was re-calculated in the validation data set. As a sensitivity analysis to assess whether any predictors of DVT were influenced by the cohort location (Texas versus Georgia) a model was evaluated in which final model plus cohort and its respective product terms were assessed for significance.

For the second objective, estimation of measure of association between DVT and length of hospital stay, first crude analyses (Simple linear regression, Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests, etc...) were initially performed between a given potential variable and the outcome variable (length of stay). The model was developed using potential variables identified based on prior literature search and if they were factors that were significant in the crude analyses. Subsequently, multivariable linear regression was performed for the main effects model. Interaction terms were also assessed. Regression diagnostics (such as evaluation of outliers and collinearity analyses (correlation, variance inflation factors and tolerance)) were performed for the multivariable linear regression analyses. In the linear regression analyses, non-normally distributed variables were log transformed to become normal and to linearize the relationships, for those variables with values of 0 that were log transformed 0.01 was added to allow for transformation.

Additionally, Cox regression was used to compute the hazard ratio (HR) with accompanying 95% confidence intervals (CI) as measures of relative risk for the endpoint analyses (hospital length of stay which was measured in days from admission to the hospital until discharge home) with main exposure variable of DVT and covariates found significant in the crude analyses. This method was also assessed since Cox regression is a semi-parametric model and no transformation of the variables was needed and there was time to event data for each subject in the dataset thus providing a second method to answer the research question 2. The risk of hospital discharge while alive was modeled with a Cox regression model with inhospital death was considered a competing event. Because the number of deaths in the dataset was very small relative to the number of patients discharged while alive, a cause specific hazard approach was used in which the times of occurrence of competing risk (death) were represented by censored times. There was no loss of follow up with regards to hospital length of stay since this was recorded for all patients.

All statistical analyses were performed using SAS® software v9.4 (SAS Institute INC., Cary, NC).

RESULTS

Characteristics of the children admitted with community acquired S. aureus osteomyelitis

Three hundred and eighty children with a mean age of 8.1 years (std. dev 4.7, median 8.1, minimum-maximum: 0.04-18.3 years) were identified as having community acquired S. aureus osteomyelitis during the study period. Within the entire study cohort, there were a higher proportion of males compared to females (58.9% vs. 41.1%). Predominant locations of osteomyelitis in order of frequency were the proximal lower extremity, distal lower extremity, pelvic sites, proximal upper extremity, other sites (such vertebrae, scapula, etc.) followed lastly by the distal upper extremity. There were similar numbers of osteomyelitis cases due to Methicillin resistant S. aureus (MRSA, 51.6%) compared to Methicillin sensitive S. aureus (MSSA, 48.4). There were a total of 47(12.3%) children diagnosed with deep venous thrombosis in the combined cohort, with higher proportion of cases in Texas vs. Georgia (13.7% vs. 10.3%, p=0.001). Overall (in the combined cohort) the median length of hospital stay was 8 days (min-max: 1-73 days). The children who were diagnosed with DVT had a median length of stay of 20 days (min-max: 4-63 days, interquartile range (IQR: 13-35 days) and those without DVT had median length of stay of 8 days (min-max: 1-73 days, IQR: 6-11 days) (p=<0.0001). A comparison of the demographic, osteomyelitis-related and clinical characteristics, and outcomes within each cohort (Texas and Georgia) are outlined in Table 1. The populations were generally similar with the exception of pelvic infections which had a higher frequency of occurrence in the Georgia cohort.

Comparison of demographic and clinical characteristics and laboratory values of children with and without DVT

There was minimal difference in the mean age, in the number of bones affected (single vs. multiple), sex, or mean white blood cell count of children with and without DVT (Table 2). Location of the cohort, location of osteomyelitis, presence of bacteremia, hemoglobin <11 g/dl, platelet count <200 platelets/microliter, and C - reactive protein >24 mg/dl were associated with presence of DVT (Table 2).

Model Development: Training Data Set Predictor Variable Selection

Based on the bivariate analysis as shown in Table 2 as well as performing univariate logistic regression analysis of the possible predictors from the training data set (i.e. 70% of the randomly partitioned full dataset), the factors included in the model development included location of cohort, bacteremia, hemoglobin <11 g/dl, platelet count <200 platelets/microliter, and C-reactive protein <24mg/dl. Given prior scientific knowledge of an increased risk of male predisposition to thrombosis as well as p value with borderline significance, male sex was also included in the multivariable model (Table 3) (6). Ultimately, the final prediction model was found to include the factors bacteremia, platelet count, C-reactive protein, and male gender. Hemoglobin (either as continuous or categorical variable) did not remain significant in the final model (i.e. improve the predictability or significance regardless of the model selection method utilized). Furthermore inclusion back into the model did not improve the predictability of the model. Evaluation of all possible product term variables following hierarchical principles was also examined and no product terms were found to be significant for inclusion in the final model. As a

sensitivity analysis, the effect of cohort location was also assessed on the main effects model (Table 4). The main effects model did not vary significantly despite inclusion of the cohort location. The final estimated main effects model is shown below.

$$\hat{p} = \frac{\exp(-2.4357 - X_1(0.8099) + X_2(0.9687) + X_3(0.9566) + X_4(0.1929))}{1 + \exp(-2.4357 - X_1(0.8099) + X_2(0.9687) + X_3(0.9566) + X_4(0.1929))}$$

Where

- p= probability of deep venous thrombosis
- X₁= Bacteremia (if present =yes (1))
- X₂= Platelets (if <200 /microliter =yes (1))
- X₃= C-reactive protein (if >24mg/dl =yes (1))
- X₄= Male sex (yes=1)

Model Development: Training Data Set Predictive Model Calibration/ Assessment

Several methods were used to assess model performance including Goodness of Fit testing using the Hosmer-Lemeshow test, performing calibration plots as well as evaluation of the ROC. The goodness of fit test statistic was not significant (p=0.67) thus the null hypothesis that the model fits the training data set was accepted. The calibration plot (Figure 1) demonstrates that the predicted vs. observed proportions within each of the groups is similar (falls close to the 45 degree line) indicating good

model fit. Evaluation of the predictability of the model using receiver operating curve (Figure 2) produced and AUC of 0.85.

Model Validation: Validation Data Set Predictive Model Calibration/Assessment

Using the validation data set, the predictive model was assessed using an independent data set (the 30% of the randomly partitioned cohort). The receiver operating curve produced an AUC of 0.8 (Figure 3).

Derivation of the classification rule, sensitivity and specificity of the final model

A cut point for the predicted probability was based upon the highest combination of sensitivity and specificity. In the training data set, this cut point was for the predicted probability > 0.11 which yielded at sensitivity of 85.7% with specificity of 70.6% (Table 5A). Using the same cut point in the validation data set yielded a sensitivity of 58% and specificity of 79% (Table 5B). The classification rule using the final estimated model (shown above) is when estimated p value is greater than 0.11, then patient is a risk of developing DVT while hospitalized with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis.

Crude analyses of factors associated with length of stay

There were statistically significant differences in the demographic, clinical characteristics/diagnoses and laboratory values with regards to median length of

stay (gender, location of cohort, proximal location of osteomyelitis, presence of multiple bones infected, DVT diagnosis, admission to the ICU, presence of MRSA and if bacteremia was diagnosed (Table 6). Those factors with the greatest difference in median length of stay were presence of DVT and ICU admission (difference of 12 and 14 days, respectively if DVT or ICU admission occurred vs. did not occur). Simple linear regression analysis showed that age at diagnosis and sex were not significantly associated with length of stay (Table 7).

Multivariable analysis of factors associated with length of stay

In multivariable linear regression analysis our exposure variable, DVT, and covariates, ICU admission, presence of MRSA, bacteremia, multiple sites of OM, and location of the cohort, remained associated with the median length of stay (Table 8). The other factors from crude analyses were placed back in the model to assess confounding of the exposure variable of interest, DVT, and there was no change of the beta estimate (for DVT) of more than 2% so no potential confounding variables were not put back in the model. Regression diagnostics for the evaluation of interaction terms, outliers, collinearity, etc. were performed. There were no interaction terms that were significant. Additionally, there were no significant outliers needed to be excluded nor was there evidence of collinearity. The final model for association of DVT and other clinically relevant factors and median length of stay is as follows.

ln(y) = B0 + B1 (DVT) + B2 (ICU) + B3 (MRSA) + B4 (Bacteremia) + B5 (MultipleOM) + B6 (Location)

Since the outcome of length of stay was not normally distributed and was log transformed comparison of presence vs. absence of the factor of interest with regards to the outcome becomes a multiplicative model. The main result of these analyses showed in comparing 2 children, one with DVT vs. one without DVT controlling for ICU admission, MRSA, bacteremia, and multiple sites of osteomyelitis statuses as well as location, the hospital length of stay was increased by 65% or an estimated factor of 1.65.

Multivariable Cox regression analysis of factors associated with time to discharge (hospital length of stay)

Multivariable Cox regression analysis revealed the same factors that were significant in the linear regression model (Tables 8 (linear regression model) and 9 (Cox model)). The children with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis who developed DVT were shown to have one half of the hazard of those without DVT of being discharged home (i.e. have longer length of hospital stay), with a hazard ratio of 0.46 (95% CI, .82–1.09) after adjusting for ICU admission, methicillin sensitivity, bacteremia status, number of sites of OM (single/multiple) and location of cohort. Other factors found to be significantly associated with decreased risk of discharge home were ICU admission, methicillin sensitivity, bacteremia status, and number of sites of OM (single/multiple) (table 9). Location of the cohort, specifically the Texas Children's Hospital cohort, was the only factor that had increased risk of prolonged stay with a HR (1.3, 95% CI 1.06-1.59).

DISCUSSION/CONCLUSIONS

DVT in children is a relatively rare occurrence in hospitalized children with estimated incidence between 58-70/10000 hospital admissions (41, 42). The occurrence of DVT during hospital admission has been associated with increased length of stay, increased costs, increased morbidity and mortality (43). In adults who have increased prevalence of DVT compared to children, thromboprophylaxis strategies are often very broad and able to be implemented on more generalizable scale (44-46). In pediatrics, the implementation of broad thromboprophylaxis or even screening for DVT is not cost effective and has potential for parental and patient anxiety. This research study sought to 1) develop a predictive model based on demographic attributes, clinical characteristics, and/or laboratory values obtained early in admission to identify which children with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis are at risk of being diagnosed with DVT and 2) further refine the measure of association between children with S. aureus osteomyelitis who develop DVT and length of hospital stay as well as to estimate the role of other potential clinical factors in this patient population with regards to length of hospital stay.

The contribution of this work primarily is that the predictive model provides a framework to determine a subset of children with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis who may develop DVT and could be potentially targeted for earlier screening for DVT or receive DVT prophylaxis from early in their hospital stay. If DVTs in this population of children could be prevented, there could be potential to shorten length of hospital stay which in turn could decrease healthcare costs as well as decrease morbidity

from long term sequela of DVT. The key findings of this study were to show that a simple predictive model could be developed for identifying children with osteomyelitis due to *S. aureus* with increased risk of developing DVT while admitted to the hospital. The specific predictors included having bacteremia, a platelet count of < 200 platelets per microliter, C - reactive protein of > 24 mg/dl at time or within 24 hours of admission, and male gender.

The second key finding of this study was to show that DVT was also associated with length of stay. Two methods, linear regression and Cox regression modeling, demonstrated the association between DVT and length of hospital stay. Notably, the linear regression model demonstrated a 65% increased length of stay in children with S. aureus osteomyelitis with DVT compared to those without DVT. Using Cox regression, the discharge rate in children with DVT was half that of children without DVT (i.e. those with DVTs had a longer length of stay). The additional factors found to be associated with increased length of hospital stay in this population of children type of infection (those with MRSA more likely to have longer length of stay), ICU admission, presence of bacteremia, multiple (versus single site of osteomyelitis) and location of cohort (Texas versus Georgia).

Over the last decade, the link between osteomyelitis due to Staphylococcal infections and deep venous thrombosis has been described. Numerous case reports and case series have described this association. Several groups have tried to further characterize the association, however have been limited by the retrospective nature of the data collection. There have been a few prospective cohorts that have attempted to differentiate between children who developed DVT and those that did not develop DVT however were limited by their small sample sizes (7, 9). To date this study represents the largest cohort of children with community acquired *S. aureus.* The proportion of children with deep venous thrombosis in our cohort (12.7%) was similar to other reports though on the lower to middle of the reported range of 6-30% (7-9). Mortality in this cohort is lower than reported by others with a survival of >99% (8, 9, 11). Additionally, research to date using multivariable modeling in looking at factors associated with length of stay or specifically estimating the measure of association between DVT and length of hospital stay has not been performed in this patient population with the exception of one study (4). This study provides further evidence that DVT increases hospital length of stay and provides justification for further investigation of prevention and/or early identification of DVT to reduce hospital length of stay.

Limitations of the study include differences in the cohorts in terms of capturing of all eligible subjects. The Texas cohort was identified as part of a prospective study while the Georgia cohort was collected using ICD-9 coding with its known biases (47, 48). Despite the prospective identification of the *S. aureus* patients and entry into a registry in the Texas Children's Hospital cohort, not all data of interest in this study was prospectively collected and lead to some missing data. Overall there was little missing data (<10% in 1 of the variables of interest, no other missing data) since these variables were selected because they are generally considered standard of care testing when osteomyelitis is suspected. In developing the model, one limitation could include small number of events of the outcome of interest. However there were enough events per (predictive) variables utilized per published literature focused on risk prediction model development (49, 50). The sensitivity and specificity of the predictive model were moderate and could be improved if additional variables could be identified or potentially if sample size was larger to have a larger number of the outcome of interest (DVT). The predictive value of a model depends on disease prevalence (51) and though several studies have reported the prevalence and/or incidence of DVT ranging from 10-30% no study has prospectively screened patients for DVT and in this largest cohort of patients the prevalence was approximately 12%. The robustness of such a prediction model cannot be assessed in single cohort, especially given the challenges and limitation with retrospective data. External validation in a prospective cohort is needed to assess the true performance of risk prediction model in a standardized way (51, 52). Another potential predictor that was not able to be studied, which could be different between the geographical cohorts, was race. There is a distinct racial diversity between the Texas vs. Georgia cohort but race was not routinely collected in the Texas cohort and as such could not be evaluated in this study.

Future directions based upon this research include validating the model by performing a pilot prospective observational study using the risk prediction model and performing screening Doppler ultrasounds on all patients with *S. aureus* OM. This would be a novel model in pediatrics and validation is an important undertaking prior to disseminating this model to the general pediatrics population. Additional prospectively collected variables (including race, family/personal history)

of DVT, etc...) could be collected and the predictive model could be further refined. Ultimately based upon this research and the pilot study, a multi-center randomized clinical trial could be developed to compare the use of prophylactic anticoagulation vs. standard of care in children predicted to be at high risk of DVT for the outcome of hospital length of stay.

In conclusion, a simple model for predicting deep venous thrombosis in children with community acquired *S. aureus* osteomyelitis was developed with moderate sensitivity and specificity. The predictors in this model included presence of bacteremia, elevated levels of C- reactive protein (>24mg/dl), platelet counts on lower end of normal (<200 platelets per microliter), and male sex. Additionally, children with *S. aureus* osteomyelitis associated DVT have significantly increased length of hospital stay compared to those without DVT (specifically increased length of stay by 65% using a linear regression model or approximately double using a Cox regression model). Additional factors associated with increased length stay also included the presence of methicillin resistance *S. aureus*, ICU admission, bacteremia, multiple infected bones, and location of cohort.

REFERENCES

- Monagle P, Adams M, Mahoney M, et al. Outcome of pediatric thromboembolic disease: a report from the Canadian Childhood Thrombophilia Registry. *Pediatric research* 2000;47(6):763-6.
- Andrew M, David M, Adams M, et al. Venous thromboembolic complications (VTE) in children: first analyses of the Canadian Registry of VTE. *Blood* 1994;83(5):1251-7.
- 3. Ratnayake K, Davis AJ, Brown L, et al. Pediatric acute osteomyelitis in the postvaccine, methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus era. *The American journal of emergency medicine* 2015;33(10):1420-4.
- Copley LA, Barton T, Garcia C, et al. A proposed scoring system for assessment of severity of illness in pediatric acute hematogenous osteomyelitis using objective clinical and laboratory findings. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2014;33(1):35-41.
- Bouchoucha S, Drissi G, Trifa M, et al. [Epidemiology of acute hematogenous osteomyelitis in children: a prospective study over a 32 months period].
 Tunis Med 2012;90(6):473-8.
- Mantadakis E, Plessa E, Vouloumanou EK, et al. Deep venous thrombosis in children with musculoskeletal infections: the clinical evidence. *Int J Infect Dis* 2012;16(4):e236-43.
- Gonzalez BE, Teruya J, Mahoney DH, Jr., et al. Venous thrombosis associated with staphylococcal osteomyelitis in children. *Pediatrics* 2006;117(5):1673-9.

- Crary SE, Buchanan GR, Drake CE, et al. Venous thrombosis and thromboembolism in children with osteomyelitis. *The Journal of pediatrics* 2006;149(4):537-41.
- 9. Bouchoucha S, Benghachame F, Trifa M, et al. Deep venous thrombosis associated with acute hematogenous osteomyelitis in children. *Orthop Traumatol Surg Res* 2010;96(8):890-3.
- Murphy SL, Xu J, Kochanek KD. Deaths: final data for 2010. National vital statistics reports : from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System 2013;61(4):1-117.
- 11. Carpenter SL, Goldman J, Sherman AK, et al. Clinical variables and Staphylococcus aureus virulence factors associated with venous thromboembolism in children. *Thrombosis research* 2015.
- 12. Aird WC. Sepsis and coagulation. *Crit Care Clin* 2005;21(3):417-31.
- Andrew M DM, Adams M, et al. Venous thromboembolic complications (VTE) in children- first analyses of the Canadian Registry of VTE. *Blood* 1994;83:1251-7.
- 14. Chalmers EA. Epidemiology of venous thromboembolism in neonates and children. *Thrombosis research* 2006;118(1):3-12.
- 15. Gorenstein A GE, Houri S, Gewirts G, Katz S. The pivotal role of deep vein thrombophlebitis in the development of acute disseminated staphylococcal disease in children. *Pediatrics* 2000;106(6):E87.

- Cunnington A BT, Cooper M, Danin J, Hunt D, Jeanes A, Kearns AM, Nolan M,Lyall H. Severe invasive Panton-Valentine Leucocidin positive Staphylococcus aureus infections in children in London, UK. *J Infect* 2009;59(1):28-36.
- 17. Mitchell PD, Hunt DM, Lyall H, et al. Panton-Valentine leukocidin-secreting Staphylococcus aureus causing severe musculoskeletal sepsis in children. A new threat. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2007;89(9):1239-42.
- 18. Altobelli MG, Quinonez RA. When should DVT be suspected in children with osteomyelitis? *Hospital pediatrics* 2012;2(3):167-72.
- 19. Prasad R, Mishra OP, Pant P. Deep vein thrombosis with Staphylococcus aureus septicemia. *Indian pediatrics* 2007;44(1):43-5.
- 20. Horvath FL, Brodeur AE, Cherry JD. Deep thrombophlebitis associated with acute osteomyelitis. *The Journal of pediatrics* 1971;79(5):815-8.
- 21. Jupiter JB, Ehrlich MG, Novelline RA, et al. The association of septic thrombophlebitis with subperiosteal abscesses in children. *The Journal of pediatrics* 1982;101(5):690-5.
- 22. Gerber JS, Coffin SE, Smathers SA, et al. Trends in the incidence of methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus infection in children's hospitals in the United States. *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America* 2009;49(1):65-71.
- 23. Copley LA. Pediatric musculoskeletal infection: trends and antibiotic recommendations. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg* 2009;17(10):618-26.

- 24. Vander Have KL, Karmazyn B, Verma M, et al. Community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in acute musculoskeletal infection in children: a game changer. *J Pediatr Orthop* 2009;29(8):927-31.
- 25. Hollmig ST, Copley LA, Browne RH, et al. Deep venous thrombosis associated with osteomyelitis in children. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume* 2007;89(7):1517-23.
- 26. Browne LP, Mason EO, Kaplan SL, et al. Optimal imaging strategy for community-acquired Staphylococcus aureus musculoskeletal infections in children. *Pediatric radiology* 2008;38(8):841-7.
- Peltola H, Paakkonen M. Acute osteomyelitis in children. *N Engl J Med* 2014;370(4):352-60.
- Pugmire BS, Shailam R, Gee MS. Role of MRI in the diagnosis and treatment of osteomyelitis in pediatric patients. *World journal of radiology* 2014;6(8):530-7.
- 29. Chan AK, Monagle P. Updates in thrombosis in pediatrics: where are we after 20 years? *Hematology / the Education Program of the American Society of Hematology American Society of Hematology Education Program* 2012;2012:439-43.
- 30. Wells PS, Anderson DR, Rodger M, et al. Excluding pulmonary embolism at the bedside without diagnostic imaging: management of patients with suspected pulmonary embolism presenting to the emergency department by using a simple clinical model and d-dimer. *Annals of internal medicine* 2001;135(2):98-107.

- 31. Bounameaux H, Schneider PA, Reber G, et al. Measurement of plasma Ddimer for diagnosis of deep venous thrombosis. *American journal of clinical pathology* 1989;91(1):82-5.
- 32. Palareti G, Legnani C, Cosmi B, et al. Risk of venous thromboembolism recurrence: high negative predictive value of D-dimer performed after oral anticoagulation is stopped. *Thromb Haemost* 2002;87(1):7-12.
- 33. Higgerson RA, Lawson KA, Christie LM, et al. Incidence and risk factors associated with venous thrombotic events in pediatric intensive care unit patients. *Pediatric critical care medicine : a journal of the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies* 2011;12(6):628-34.
- Faustino EV, Hanson S, Spinella PC, et al. A multinational study of thromboprophylaxis practice in critically ill children. *Critical care medicine* 2014;42(5):1232-40.
- Polikoff LA, Faustino EV. Venous thromboembolism in critically ill children.
 Curr Opin Pediatr 2014;26(3):286-91.
- 36. Sharathkumar AA, Mahajerin A, Heidt L, et al. Risk-prediction tool for identifying hospitalized children with a predisposition for development of venous thromboembolism: Peds-Clot clinical Decision Rule. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 2012;10(7):1326-34.
- 37. Sandoval JA, Sheehan MP, Stonerock CE, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and treatment patterns for deep venous thrombosis in hospitalized children: an increasing population at risk. *Journal of vascular surgery* 2008;47(4):837-43.

- 38. Thom K, Male C, Mannhalter C, et al. No impact of endogenous prothrombotic conditions on the risk of central venous line-related thrombotic events in children: results of the KIDCAT study (KIDs with Catheter Associated Thrombosis). *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH* 2014;12(10):1610-5.
- 39. Mitchell LG, Andrew M, Hanna K, et al. A prospective cohort study determining the prevalence of thrombotic events in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and a central venous line who are treated with Lasparaginase: results of the Prophylactic Antithrombin Replacement in Kids with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Treated with Asparaginase (PARKAA) Study. *Cancer* 2003;97(2):508-16.
- 40. Mishaan AM, Mason EO, Jr., Martinez-Aguilar G, et al. Emergence of a predominant clone of community-acquired Staphylococcus aureus among children in Houston, Texas. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2005;24(3):201-6.
- Kenet G, Nowak-Gottl U. Venous thromboembolism in neonates and children.
 Best Pract Res Clin Haematol 2012;25(3):333-44.
- Raffini L HY, Witmer C, Feudtner C. Dramatic increase in venous thromboembolism in children's hospitals in the United States from 2001 to 2007. *Pediatrics* 2009;124(4):1001-8.
- 43. Candrilli SD BR, O'Brien SH. . Effect of injury severity on the incidence and utilization-related outcomes of venous thromboembolism in pediatric trauma inpatients. . *Pediatric critical care medicine : a journal of the Society of*
Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies 2009;10:554-7.

- Geerts WH BD, Pineo GF, et al. American College of Chest Physicians.
 Prevention of venous thromboembolism: American College of Chest
 Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest*2008;133(6):381S-453S.
- 45. Gould MK GD, Wren SM, et al. Prevention of VTE in nonorthopedic surgical patients: Antithrombotic Therapy and Prevention of Thrombosis, 9th ed. American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines. *Chest* 2012;141(2):e227S-77s.
- 46. Tapson VF HT, Waldo AL, et al. Arch Intern Med. 2005;165(13):1458 –1464.
 Antithrombotic therapy practices in US hospitals in an era of practice guidelines. *Arch Intern Med* 2005;165(13):1458-64.
- 47. O'Malley KJ, Cook KF, Price MD, et al. Measuring diagnoses: ICD code accuracy. *Health services research* 2005;40(5 Pt 2):1620-39.
- 48. Surjan G. Questions on validity of International Classification of Diseasescoded diagnoses. *International journal of medical informatics* 1999;54(2):7795.
- Moons KG, Kengne AP, Woodward M, et al. Risk prediction models: I.
 Development, internal validation, and assessing the incremental value of a new (bio)marker. *Heart (British Cardiac Society)* 2012;98(9):683-90.

- 50. Peduzzi P, Concato J, Kemper E, et al. A simulation study of the number of events per variable in logistic regression analysis. *Journal of clinical epidemiology* 1996;49(12):1373-9.
- 51. Lee YH, Bang H, Kim DJ. How to Establish Clinical Prediction Models. *Endocrinology and metabolism (Seoul, Korea)* 2016;31(1):38-44.
- 52. Moons KG, Kengne AP, Grobbee DE, et al. Risk prediction models: II. External validation, model updating, and impact assessment. *Heart (British Cardiac Society)* 2012;98(9):691-8.

	ТСН	СНОА
	Number of subjects	Number of subjects
	(%)	(%)
Demographic		1
Male	140 (62)	86 (55)
Age (years, mean, SD)	8.4 (4.9)	7.7 (4.5)
Osteomyelitis Related Factors		
Location		
Upper Extremity		
Proximal	24 (10.5)	14 (9)
Distal	7 (3)	7 (4.5)
Lower Extremity		
Proximal	90 (40)	57 (36.5)
Distal	70 (31)	47 (30)
Pelvis	24 (10.5)	27 (17.4)
Other	11 (5)	4 (2.6)
MRSA	116 (51)	69 (44)
Clinical Data		· · · ·
Bacteremia	140 (62)	101 (64)
Septic Pulmonary Emboli	22 (9)	18 (12)
Outcomes		
Deep Venous Thrombosis	31 (14)	16 (10)
ICU admission	33 (15)	21 (14)
Length of Stay days, median	9 (1-73)	8 (3-63)
(min-max)		
Survival	225 (99.6)	156 (100)

TABLE 1. Demographic, clinical characteristics, and outcomes of children with *S*. *Aureus* osteomyelitis admitted to TCH (n=226) and CHOA (n=156) from 2005-2010 (n=382)

TCH-Texas Children's Hospital, CHOA- Children's Healthcare of Atlanta

SD- standard deviation

MRSA- Methicillin Resistant S. Aureus

ICU- Intensive Care Unit

Factors	Deep Venous Thrombosis (n) [*]		P value
Tactor 5	Present	Absent	i value
Age (years, mean)	8	8.1	0.88
Gender			
Male	33	192	0.1
Female	14	143	
Location of cohort			
Texas	31	195	0.001
Georgia	16	140	
Location of Osteomyelitis			
Proximal	36	200	0.03
Distal	11	135	
Number of Bones			
Multiple	6	25	0.22
Single	41	310	
Bacteremia			
Present	40	201	0.002
Absent	7	134	
Laboratory Related [#]			
WBC	11.8	12	0.11
Hemoglobin			
Low (<11)	21	90	0.01
Normal (≥11)	26	245	
Platelet			
Low (<200)	29	81	< 0.0001
Normal <u>(≥</u> 200)	18	254	
C- Reactive Protein			
> 24 mg/dl	20	278	< 0.0001
<u><</u> 24 md/dl	27	62	

TABLE 2. Measures of association between demographic, osteomyelitis related, and laboratory factors and presence of DVT

* For the entire cohort of 382 subjects

[^] Location of osteomyelitis, proximal: proximal upper and lower extremity and pelvis, distal= all other locations

[#]WBC= white blood cell count normal range ~5-15K WBC per microliter, Hemoglobin normal range ~11.5-16 g/dl, Platelet count normal range 150-450,000 platelets/microliter **TABLE 3**. Model development: evaluation of predictors

Factors	Univariate Association Training data set Odds Ratio (CI)*	Multivariable Association Training data set Odds Ratio (CI)
Age (years, mean)	1 (0.92-1.09)	
Gender		
Male	1.24 (0.55-2.8)	1.5 (0.6-3.8)
Female	reference	
Location of cohort		
Texas	0.63(0.28-1.45)	-
Georgia	reference	
Location of Osteomyelitis		
Proximal	1.61 (0.68-3.8)	-
Distal	reference	
Number of Bones		
Multiple	0.82 (0.18-3.7)	-
Single	reference	
Bacteremia		
Present	7.95 (1.86-34.3)	5.1 (1.1-23.4)
Absent	reference	
Laboratowy Dalatad#		
Laboratory Related [#] WBC	1.03 (0.97- 1.1)	
Hemoglobin	1.05 (0.57 1.1)	
Low (<11)	2.12 (0.95-4.73)	Not significant
Normal (≥11)	reference	
Platelet		
Low (<200)	5.94 (2.59-13.6)	6.94 (2.74-17.6)
Normal (≥200)	reference	
C- Reactive Protein		
> 24 mg/dl	7.02 (3.1-16.15)	6.77 (2.67-17.2)
<u><</u> 24 md/dl	reference	-

CI: 95% confidence interval

* If variable significant at p< 0.1 with crude analyses then used in the multivariable model or if previously shown to be related to the outcome in literature

- [^] Location of osteomyelitis, proximal: proximal upper and lower extremity and pelvis, distal= all other locations
- # For model development also categorized the significant continuous variables in the model to assist in a clinically relevant manner, used the upper or lowed 25% quartile based on direction of association



Figure 1. Calibration plot used in assessing the final predictive model for study question 1

Figure 2. Receiver Operating Curves for the predication model for the training data set (Panel A, AUC 0.85), validation data set (Panel B, AUC 0.8) and a comparison graph of the training and validation data sets ROC curves (Panel C)



sample O training data O validation data

Factors	β estimate (SE)	P value
Male sex (female= reference)	0.21 (0.25)	0.4
Location of cohort		
Texas	0.09 (0.4)	0.82
Georgia	Reference	
Bacteremia		
Present	0.76(0.39)	0.04
Absent	Reference	
I also and the second Distance of the		
Laboratory Related [#] Platelet		
Low (<200)	0.95 (0.25)	0.0001
Normal (≥200)	Reference	
C- Reactive Protein		
> 24 mg/dl	0.93(0.25)	0.0002
<u><</u> 24 md/dl	Reference	
Location * bacteremia	-0.27(0.39)	0.5
· · · · · · · · ·		0.57
Location * platelet	-0.14(0.25)	0.57
Location * c-reactive protein	-0.14(0.25)	0.58

TABLE 4. Sensitivity analysis: evaluation of significant predictors by cohort location

SE: standard error

TABLE 5. Sensitivity and specificity of the final predictive model. Table 4A. Classification table using a cut point predicted probability /classification rule of 0.11 from our training data yields 85.7% sensitivity and 70.6% specificity. Table 4B. Classification table using the same cut point of 0.11 from our training data set yields 58% sensitivity and 79% specificity in our validation data set.

А.			
	Observed DVT Absent	Observed DVT Present	Total
Predicted DVT Absent	173	4	177
Predicted DVT Present	72	24	96
Total	245	28	273

В.			
	Observed DVT Absent	Observed DVT Present	Total
Predicted DVT Absent	71	8	79
Predicted DVT Present	19	11	30
Total	90	19	109

	Median Length of Stay (days)	P value
Gender		
Male	9	0.04
Female	8	
Location of cohort		
Texas	9	0.002
Georgia	8	
Osteomyelitis Related		
Bone Location [*]		
Proximal	9	0.0006
Distal	7	
Multiple bones	14	<0.0001
Single bone	8	
Clinical Factors		
Deep Venous Thrombosis		
Present	20	< 0.0001
Absent	8	
ICU Admission		
Yes	22	< 0.0001
No	8	
MRSA		
Yes	11	<0.0001
No	7	
Bacteremia		
Yes	10	< 0.0001
No	6	

TABLE 6. Crude analysis of factors related to hospital length of stay

* Location of osteomyelitis, proximal: proximal upper and lower extremity and pelvis, distal= all other locations ICU- Intensive Care Unit

MRSA- Methicillin Resistant S. Aureus

	β Estimate	Standard Error	e ^{^β}	P value
Demographic				
Age	0.002	0.007	1.002	0.78
Male sex (ref = female)	0.14	0.07	1.15	0.05
Location of cohort: Georgia (ref = Texas)	-0.18	0.07	0.84	0.01
Osteomyelitis Related			[
Proximal Bone Location (ref = distal)	0.21	0.06	1.23	0.002
Multiple bones involved (ref = single)	0.53	0.12	1.7	<0.001
Clinical Factors				
Deep Venous Thrombosis (ref= absent)	0.93	0.09	2.53	<0.001
ICU Admission (ref = no)	0.94	0.08	2.56	< 0.001
MRSA (ref = MSSA)	0.43	0.06	1.54	<0.001
Bacteremia (ref =no)	0.45	0.07	1.57	<0.001

Table 7. Simple linear regression evaluating association between ln length of stay
 and DVT and other relevant variables

Ref= reference category ICU- Intensive Care Unit

MRSA- Methicillin Resistant S. Aureus

MSSA- Methicillin Sensitive S. Aureus

Table 8 . Multivariable linear regression evaluating association between ln length of
stay and DVT and other relevant variables

Factors	β Estimate (95% CI)	e ^{^β}	Partial R ²	P value
DVT (ref= no)	0.5 (0.32-069)	1.65	0.05	< 0.0001
ICU admission (ref= no)	0.52 (0.34-0.7)	1.68	0.24	< 0.0001
MRSA (ref= MSSA)	0.25 (0.15-0.36)	1.28	0.06	< 0.0001
Bacteremia(ref= no)	0.23(0.12-0.34)	1.26	0.03	< 0.0001
Multiple sites of OM (ref= single)	0.35 (0.16-0.54)	1.42	0.02	< 0.0001
Location of cohort (ref= Texas)	-0.14 (-0.240.03)	0.87	0.01	< 0.0001

CI- Confidence Interval

DVT- Deep Venous Thrombosis

ICU- Intensive Care Unit

MRSA- Methicillin Resistant S. Aureus

OM- Osteomyelitis

Factors*	Hazard Ratio (95% CI)	P value
DVT (ref= no)	0.47 (0.34-0.67)	< 0.0001
ICU admission (ref= no)	0.47 (0.33-0.66)	< 0.0001
MRSA (ref=MSSA)	0.61 (0.49-0.75)	< 0.0001
Bacteremia (ref=no)	0.63(0.51-0.79)	< 0.0001
Multiple sites of OM (ref=single)	0.59 (0.4-0.86)	0.007
Location of cohort (ref=Texas)	1.3 (1.06-1.59)	0.01

Table 9. Cox regression analysis with factor specific hazard ratios adjusted for all of the other factors listed and time to discharge home (i.e. hospital length of stay)

*Ref= reference categories CI- 95% Confidence Interval DVT- Deep Venous Thrombosis ICU- Intensive Care Unit MRSA- Methicillin Resistant *S. Aureus* OM- Osteomyelitis